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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Whether domesticity is a sufficient condition for the application of §10(b) to a 
transaction that involves the security of a foreign company that never made 
misrepresentations in the United States. 
 
2. Whether an employee who is not the maker of an untrue statement but 
assists the speaker in making an untrue statement is subject to primary 
liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) where the act of providing assistance is only 
deceptive in light of the untrue statement made. 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 

This case presents a question of the interpretation of 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) 

and 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5. The text of each is in the appendix. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Gianni Marconi, (“CEO”) and Benny Factor (“CFO”) founded Alcollezione, 

an Italian wine-and-spirits company, in 2009. R. at 2. The CEO moved to Italy 

before forming the business, while the CFO chose to remain in the United 

States. R. at 1-2. Shortly thereafter, they hired Ms. Ava Cato, an Italian citizen 

and resident, to be Alcollezione’s general counsel. R. at 2. She helped the 

company establish its headquarters in Milan and structure it as a Societa per 

azioni, the Italian equivalent of a corporation. R. at 2. The company enjoyed 

early success and in 2011 its management decided to take it public in Italy. R. 

at 3. Ahead of the company’s 2011 Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), the company 

listed information for investors on its website in both English an Italian. R. at 

3. Following the IPO, the company’s shares traded exclusively on the Borsa 

Italiana, the Italian Stock Exchange. R. at 3. Alcollezione expanded its markets 

across Europe and the United States upon raising capital from trading its 

stock. R. at 3. 

Five years later in 2016, the CEO, CFO, and Ms. Cato decided to travel to 

the United States to visit family and friends. R. at 3. While in the United States, 

the CEO, CFO, and Ms. Cato met with Doris Schutt, an investment banker. R. 

at 3. While they were out, Ms. Schutt suggested to the CEO that Alcollezione 

form a local subsidiary in the United States or sponsor an American Depository 

Receipt (“ADR”). R. at 3. However, the CEO steadfastly declined to sponsor an 
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ADR offering, let alone form a U.S. subsidiary. R. at 3. Further, he stated that 

he did not have the temperament for American business and did not want to 

spend the time in the United States to undergo such an offering. R. at 3.  

Nonetheless, Ms. Schutt established unsponsored ADRs representing 

Alcollezione’s shares by using her position at Hansen Bank and Trust, a New 

York depositary institution. R. at 4. Ms. Schutt gave the CEO a courtesy call 

informing him that her investment bank, acting as depositary, would be 

issuing the ADRs. R. at 4. Several weeks later, Hansen Bank unilaterally filed a 

Form F-6 with the SEC and issued the ADRs. R. at 4. Further, the depositary 

aided the transactions of the ADRs that were trading over-the-counter (“OTC”), 

and were purchased by various hedge fund managers in New York and 

Connecticut. R. at 4. During this time, Alcollezione’s made no representations 

about the company’s securities to these investors.  

In the months following the ADR offering, Alcollezione’s stock price 

remained high on the Italian exchange. R. at 4. Prior to the company’s annual 

shareholder meeting in 2017, the CEO decided to develop a new product, 

Frizzantissimo. R. at 5. Ms. Cato informed the CEO that she needed to 

research whether Italian alcohol regulations would allow the company to 

produce the new product but that compliance in the short term would be an 

uphill battle. R. at 5. The CEO resisted Ms. Cato’s calls for caution, insisting 

that “it is better to ask for forgiveness than permission” and proceeded to 

threaten Ms. Cato if she did not go along with his plans to present the new 

product to investors at the annual shareholder meeting. R. at 5. Also, the CEO 

told Ms. Cato, “Listen, this is happening with or without you,” knowing that 
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Ms. Cato was aware of her looming performance review. R. at 5. Acting on the 

CEO’s orders, Ms. Cato drafted the assurances that the new beverage would 

come to market in 2018. R. at 6. After drafting the assurances, it is unclear 

who inserted them into the CEO’s presentation material for the shareholder 

meeting. R. at 6. 

At the 2017 annual shareholder meeting, the CEO delivered the 

statements regarding the new beverage Alcollezione was bringing to market in 

2018. R. at 6. However, on March 14, 2018, Italian regulators ordered the 

company to cease all production of the new beverage due to regulatory 

noncompliance. R. at 6. The company’s stock price on the Borsa Italiana fell 

29% while the ADR price in the United States fell by 27%. R. at 6. The Hedge 

Fund Managers sued in federal district court claiming $6.1 million in damages 

under Rule 10b-5 naming the company, CEO, CFO, and Ms. Cato as 

defendants. R. at 7. The Fund Managers specifically alleged they relied upon 

the untrue statements delivered by the CEO at the 2017 shareholder meeting 

and those contained on the company’s website. R. at 7. 

Following the defendants’ motions to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the 

district court dismissed the CFO for lacking scienter and denied the motion 

with respect to the other defendants. R. at 8. Alcollezione and the CEO entered 

into undisclosed settlement agreements with the Fund Managers. R. at 7-8. 

After the district court denied her motion to dismiss, Ms. Cato filed an 

interlocutory appeal and the circuit court reversed, holding Ms. Cato was not 

subject to section 10(b) due to extraterritoriality and because she was not a 

primary violator. R. at 16, 23. This Court granted certiorari. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a plaintiff’s 

complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim for relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 

678 (2009). Courts review a district court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim 

de novo. Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 232 (5th Cir. 2009).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 The Fourteenth Circuit’s decision below correctly held that domesticity is 

not a sufficient condition for the extraterritorial application of §10(b) and the 

Fund Managers failed to state a primary violation claim under Rule 10b-5(a) or 

(c). First, domesticity is not a sufficient condition for the extraterritorial 

application of §10(b). While it is necessary because §10(b) cannot apply to 

extraterritorial transactions, blindly relying on that one condition could lead to 

the statute’s impermissible application. Instead, courts should also have to 

consider whether the transactions at issue are predominantly foreign. For 

example, the transactions at issue here are predominantly foreign because they 

involve foreign actors who only made misrepresentations in a foreign country. 

Thus, applying §10(b) would be improper as it could lead to conflicts with 

foreign jurisdictions, creating a situation that the Court was trying to avoid in 

Morrison. Finally, even if domesticity is a sufficient condition, it would be 

improper to hold a foreign company liable for transactions involving 

unsponsored ADRs because the company is not party to the transactions.  

Under this Court’s holding in Janus, Ms. Cato is not primarily liable 

under Rule 10b-5(b) which deals only with making material misstatements or 
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omissions. Because Ms. Cato did not make any statements under Rule 10b-

5(b), the Fund Managers attempt to bring “scheme liability” claims against Ms. 

Cato under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c). The Fund Managers claims fail as a matter of 

law for several reasons. First, the claims at issue would not exist but for the 

material misstatements the CEO made under subsection (b), therefore, the 

claims are merely repackaged aiding and abetting claims which this Court 

disallowed in Central Bank. Second, a primary violation under Rule 10b-5(a) or 

(c) requires conduct that is inherently deceptive, meaning the conduct is 

fraudulent irrespective of any other allegations. Third, the facts of this case are 

readily distinguishable from Lorenzo v. SEC where Ms. Cato’s actions do not 

mirror the level of culpability. Finally, the Fund Managers failed to allege facts 

establishing the reliance element this Court held is vital to a Rule 10b-5(a) or 

(c) claim in Stoneridge. Specifically, the Fund Managers fail to allege how they 

relied upon any acts Ms. Cato engaged in when such facts were unknown to 

them and the investing public. As such, this Court should affirm the holding of 

the Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit.  

ARGUMENT 

I. DETERMINING THAT A TRANSACTION IS DOMESTIC IS 

INSUFFICIENT FOR THE EXTRATERRITORIAL APPLICATION OF 
SECTION (10)(B). 

 
Section 10(b) should not apply when the transaction is predominantly 

foreign, even if that transaction is domestic, because that application would 

constitute an extraterritorial application. Alternatively, the Court should find 

that foreign companies are not liable under §10(b) for transactions involving 

unsponsored ADRs because the companies are not parties to the transactions.  
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A. Domesticity is a necessary condition for the application of §10(b) because 
it is impermissible to apply the statute extraterritorially.   
 
The Supreme Court held that it is necessary that a transaction be 

domestic for §10(b) to apply because it cannot apply to extraterritorial 

transactions. Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 267 (2010). To 

determine if a statute can overcome this presumption against 

extraterritoriality, courts must conduct a two-part inquiry. See Id., 561 U.S. at 

262, 266. First, courts must determine if the language of the statute clearly 

allows for extraterritorial application. RJR Nabisco, Inc. v. European Cmty., 

136 S. Ct. 2090, 2101 (2016). If not, then courts must determine if the focus of 

the statute allows for extraterritorial application. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266. 

However, §10(b) fails to satisfy either part of that inquiry; therefore, it is 

necessary that a transaction be domestic for §10(b) to apply. See id. 

1. A two-part inquiry explains when the application of a statute 
extraterritorially is permissible.    

 
As the Court explains, “when a statute gives no clear indication of an 

extraterritorial application, it has none.” Id. at 255. See also EEOC v. Arabian 

American Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991)(“It is a longstanding principle of 

American law ‘that legislation of Congress, unless a contrary intent appears, is 

meant to apply only within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States.’”) 

(citing Foley Bros., Inc. v. Filardo, 336 U.S. 281, 285 (1949)). This principle 

“represents a canon of construction . . . rest[ing] on the perception that 

Congress ordinarily legislates with respect to domestic, not foreign matters.” 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 255. Accordingly, “whether a federal statute applies to 

conduct outside the United States is a question of congressional intent.” SEC v. 
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Scoville, 913 F.3d 1204, 1215 (10th Cir. 2019). “Thus, ‘unless there is the 

affirmative intention of the Congress clearly expressed’” for a statute to apply 

extraterritorially, the presumption stands. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 255 (citing 

EEOC, 499 U.S. at 248).  

The Court has since constructed a two-part inquiry to evaluate if 

Congress intended for a statute to apply extraterritorially. See Morrison, 561 

U.S. at 262, 266. The first step is to determine whether the statute itself rebuts 

the presumption against extraterritoriality. RJR Nabisco, 136 at 2101. See also 

WesternGeco LLC v. ION Geophysical Corp., 138 S. Ct. 2129, 2136 (2018)(“It 

can be rebutted only if the text provides a ‘clear indication of an extraterritorial 

application.’”)(citing Morrison, 561 U.S. at 255). If there is no clear indication 

in the statute, then the second step examines the statute’s focus. Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 266. Specifically, “if the conduct relevant to the statute’s focus 

occurred in the United States, then the case involves a permissible domestic 

application even if other conduct occurred abroad.” RJR Nabisco, 136 S. Ct. at 

2094. However, where neither part of the inquiry is satisfied, then the statute 

cannot apply extraterritorially. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266. 

2. Section 10(b) fails to meet either part of the two-part inquiry so 
it cannot apply extraterritorially.  

 
The Court in Morrison applied the two-part inquiry to §10(b) of the 

Exchange Act, finding it has no extraterritorial application. See id. at 265. The 

Court’s analysis started with the language of the statute wherein they noted 

“on its face, §10(b) contains nothing to suggest it applies abroad.” Id. at 262. 

The Court did note that it is possible to imagine an interpretation of §10(b) 
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applying extraterritorially. Id. at 264. However, “possible interpretations of 

statutory language do not override the presumption against extraterritoriality.” 

Id. at 264. See also EEOC, 499 U.S. at 250 (explaining that plausible 

interpretations do not overcome the presumption against extraterritoriality). 

Instead, there must be “clear indication of extraterritoriality” to rebut the 

presumption against it. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 265.  Therefore, §10(b) fails to 

satisfy the first part of the inquiry. Id.  

Moving to the second part of the test, the Court found that the “focus of 

the Exchange Act is not upon the place where the deception originated, but 

upon purchases and sales of securities in the United States.” Id. at 266. Even 

though §10(b) does apply to securities not registered on a domestic exchange, 

the Court noted that for transactions involving securities not registered, the 

“exclusive focus on domestic purchases and sale is strongly confirmed” 

through the language of the statute. Id. at 268 (emphasis in original). 

Additionally, the Court emphasized the importance of the “probability of 

incompatibility” of §10(b) with foreign laws due to the lack of enforcement 

mechanisms in the statute. Id. at 269. Therefore, the focus of the statute is on 

domestic transactions, so §10(b) fails to satisfy the second part of the inquiry. 

Id.  

Ultimately, the Court in Morrison found §10(b) does not apply 

extraterritorially and dismissed the claim as it involved “no securities listed on 

a domestic exchange, and all aspects of the purchases complained of . . . 

occurred outside the United States.” Id. at 273. Consequently, the Court 

concluded by noting that “deception with respect to [domestic] purchases or 
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sales is necessary for a violation of [§10(b)]” to prevent extraterritorial 

application. Id. at 272 (emphasis added). See also Stoyas v. Toshiba, 896 F.3d 

933, 947 (9th Cir. 2018)(explaining that Morrison did not describe at length 

contours of domestic transactions not occurring on national exchanges). 

B. The Court should consider the application of §10(b) to the transactions 
involving Alcollezione’s ADRs extraterritorial because the transactions 
are predominantly foreign. 
 
Section 10(b) should not apply to domestic transactions that are 

predominantly foreign as that application would violate the presumption 

against extraterritorial application. Parkcentral Global HUB Ltd. v. Porsche 

Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 216 (2d Cir. 2014). Domesticity is necessary 

for the application of §10(b); however, it should “not suffice to compel” 

application. Id. (emphasis in original). Instead, courts should have to determine 

if transactions are predominantly foreign because applying §10(b) to 

predominantly foreign transactions would violate the Court’s holding in 

Morrison. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216. Here, Ms. Cato is a citizen and 

resident of Italy, Alcollezione is an Italian-based company, and the alleged 

misconduct occurred in Italy. Therefore, while the transactions are domestic, 

§10(b) should not apply because they are predominantly foreign. 

1. Section 10(b) should not apply to domestic transactions that are 
predominantly foreign because of the presumption against 
extraterritoriality.  

 
While Morrison made domesticity necessary for §10(b) to apply, “a rule 

making [§10(b)] applicable whenever the plaintiff’s suit is predicated on a 

domestic transaction . . . would seriously undermine Morrison’s insistence that 

§10(b) has no extraterritorial application.” Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215. 
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Specifically, such a rule could “subject to U.S. securities laws conduct that 

occurred in a foreign country, concerning securities in a foreign company, 

traded entirely on foreign exchanges.” Id. at 215-16. Such a situation “would 

inevitably place §10(b) in conflict with the regulatory laws of other nations,” a 

scenario that Congress did not intend the statute to cover, thus destroying the 

presumption against extraterritoriality. Id. at 215. Instead, a fact-intensive 

inquiry is necessary to determine if a transaction is “so predominantly foreign 

as to be impermissibly extraterritorial” under Morrison’s framework to prevent 

such an application. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216. 

For example, in Parkcentral, the Second Circuit held that foreign activity 

was the governing factor because of its predominance. Id. The Circuit Court 

noted that Porsche, a major German corporation, created a scheme through 

which it bought stock in Volkswagen, another German corporation, which 

traded on European stock exchanges. Id. at 201. The plaintiffs then relied on 

misstatements made primarily in Germany by Porsche, to invest in securities-

based swap agreements in the United States. Id. Therefore, even though 

domestic transactions took place, the Second Circuit held that the relevant 

facts were “so predominantly German as to compel the conclusion that the 

complaints fail to invoke §10(b) in a manner consistent with the presumption 

against extraterritoriality.” Id. at 216. 

Compare the Second Circuit’s analysis from Parkcentral to that in 

Giunta where the court found the transactions at issue were not so 

predominantly foreign and allowed the claim under §10(b) to proceed. Giunta v. 

Dingman, 893 F.3d 73, 82 (2d Cir. 2018). There, the defendant was a 
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permanent resident of a foreign country, the business was based in the foreign 

country, and the records for the company were in the foreign country. Id. 

However, all the relevant transactions occurred in the United States, the 

deception occurred multiple times in the United States, and the plaintiff and 

defendant were both United States citizens at the time. Id. Therefore, the 

Second Circuit found that even though there were foreign facts, the plaintiff 

alleged enough facts that allowed the claim to proceed. Id. 

Ultimately, these cases illustrate that it is necessary to determine 

through a fact-intensive inquiry whether a domestic transaction is so 

predominantly foreign, because applying §10(b) in some situations could violate 

the presumption against extraterritoriality. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216.  

2. The transactions here are predominantly foreign because the 
conduct committed by Ms. Cato, an Italian national, and 
Alcollezione, an Italian-based company, occurred in Italy.  

 
Here, §10(b) does not apply to the transactions at issue because they are 

so predominantly foreign that applying §10(b) would result in an extraterritorial 

application. First, Ms. Cato, like the defendants in Parkcentral and Giunta, was 

a resident of a foreign country at the time of the transactions. R. at 2. 

Moreover, unlike the defendant in Giunta, Ms. Cato is a citizen of the foreign 

country. R. at 2. Furthermore, at the time of the alleged violation she had only 

traveled to the United States on one occasion and did not make any 

misrepresentations or statements there, unlike the defendant in Giunta. R. at 

3. Ms. Cato did allegedly contribute to a material misrepresentation, but she 

made that misrepresentation entirely in Italy, and it only became available to 

the United States over the internet like the deception in Parkcentral. Thus, Ms. 
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Cato’s conduct was predominantly foreign. 

Also, Alcollezione’s conduct was predominantly foreign. Like the 

defendants in Parkcentral, Alcollezione’s chief officers resided in a foreign 

country and they based their company there. R. at 2. Additionally, 

Alcollezione’s stock traded exclusively on foreign markets like the defendant’s 

stock in Parkcentral. Further, the only statements the CEO made regarding 

Alcollezione’s securities while in the United States came in 2016 when the 

company’s chief officers travelled to New York City for vacation. R. at 3. 

However, in those statements the CEO expressly said that he was unwilling to 

extend Alcollezione’s operations to the United States and seemed uninterested 

in establishing ADRs. R. at 3. Nonetheless, in 2016 an American depositary 

told the CEO over a phone call that they were establishing unsponsored ADRs, 

but even then, the CEO made no misrepresentation. R. at 4. Instead, like the 

defendants in Parkcentral, and unlike the defendants in Giunta, the only 

misrepresentations made by Alcollezione occurred in a foreign country and 

were only available to the United States over the internet. R. at 6. Thus, 

Alcollezione’s conduct was predominantly foreign like Ms. Cato’s conduct.  

Therefore, the transactions here are predominantly foreign so §10(b) 

should not apply because applying it would violate the presumption against 

extraterritorial application the Supreme Court sought to prevent in Morrison.  

C. Alternatively, Petitioners failed to state a claim even if a transaction only 
needs to be domestic for §10(b) to apply because Alcollezione was not a 
party to the transactions involving the unsponsored ADRs. 
 
Alternatively, if domesticity is sufficient, Ms. Cato cannot be held liable 

because Alcollezione was not a party to the domestic transactions involving the 
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unsponsored ADRs. In Morrison, the Court explains that §10(b) can only apply 

to the parties of a domestic transaction. See id. at 267. The parties engage in a 

domestic transaction where they incur irrevocable liability or transfer title in 

the United States. See Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 

F.3d 60, 62 (2d Cir. 2012). Thus, it is improper to bring a claim under §10(b) 

against a foreign company where the domestic transaction at issue is an 

unsponsored ADR because the foreign company neither incurs irrevocable 

liability nor transfers title with the investors in the United States. See generally 

Securities and Exchange Commission, Additional Form F-6 Eligibility 

Requirement Related to the Listed Status of Deposited Securities Underlying 

American Depositary Receipts, 68 FR 5463 (proposed September 11, 2003)(to 

be codified at 17 CFR 239). 

 Here, the transactions at issue are unsponsored ADRs and Ms. Cato and 

Alcollezione never incur irrevocable liability nor transfer the title to any security 

with the Petitioners. Therefore, they should not be liable under §10(b) because 

they are not a party to the domestic transaction at issue. 

1. Domestic transactions occur when irrevocable liability or a title 
transfer occurs between the parties to the transaction.  

 
Circuit courts have understood Morrison to require that “plaintiffs must 

allege facts indicating that irrevocable liability was incurred or that title was 

transferred within the United States” for domestic transactions that do not 

occur on a national stock exchange. Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 62. See also 

United States v. Georgiou, 777 F.3d 125, 135-36 (3d Cir. 2015); Stoyas, 896 

F.3d at 949. As the Supreme Court clarified in Morrison, §10(b) only applies to 
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“parties or prospective parties to those [domestic] transactions.’” Morrison, 561 

U.S. at 267, (citing Superintendent of Ins. of N.Y. v. Bankers Life & Casualty 

Co., 404 U.S. 6, 10 (2002)). Therefore, a domestic transaction only occurs 

where the parties in a suit incur irrevocable liability or transfer title in the 

United States. See Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d at 62. 

For example, in Absolute Activist the Second Circuit had to determine 

whether there was irrevocable liability or a title transfer in a transaction 

involving securities traded over-the-counter (“OTC”). Id. at 63. See also Stoyas, 

896 F.3d at 945 (explaining that over-the-counter markets are not a national 

security exchange). At issue was a pump-and-dump scheme created by the 

defendants, U.S. based investment managers, who sold the securities to foreign 

investors that lost hundreds of millions of dollars. Absolute Activist, 677 F.3d 

at 63. The Second Circuit found that even though the plaintiffs stated the 

transaction was domestic, they did not allege “facts concerning the formation of 

the contracts, the placement of purchase orders, the passing of title, or the 

exchange of money.” Id. at 70. Therefore, §10(b) could not apply because the 

defendants did not incur irrevocable liability nor transfer title in the U.S. Id. 

2. Foreign companies are not parties to transactions involving 
unsponsored ADRs because they do not incur irrevocable liability 
nor transfer a title. 
 

Holding a foreign company responsible under §10(b) for domestic 

transactions involving unsponsored ADRs is improper because the foreign 

companies do not incur irrevocable liability nor transfer a title to the investors.   

The process of establishing unsponsored ADRs “does not involve the formal 

participation, or even require the acquiescence of, the foreign company whose 
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securities will be represented by the ADRs.” Securities and Exchange 

Commission, Additional Form F-6 Eligibility Requirement Related to the Listed 

Status of Deposited Securities Underlying American Depositary Receipts.1 As 

for the actual transactions involving unsponsored ADRs, no irrevocable liability 

nor title transfer occurs between the foreign company and investors. See 

generally Securities and Exchange Commission, Investor Bulletin: American 

Depositary Receipts, (2012). Instead, the depositary trades these securities 

themselves OTC to domestic investors and the foreign company raises no 

capital from these transactions. Id. During these transactions, no contracts 

form between the foreign company and investors, no purchase orders occur 

between the two, and there is no passing of title nor the exchange of money. 

See Securities and Exchange Commission, Additional Form F-6 Eligibility 

Requirement Related to the Listed Status of Deposited Securities Underlying 

American Depositary Receipts. 

Moreover, it is up to the depositary, not the foreign company, to 

determine the extent of the benefits to which the investors receive from the 

foreign-based security. See id. Specifically, the depositary chooses to notify 

holders of shareholder meetings, disseminate any proxy information from the 

company, distribute dividends, or even exercise voting rights. See id. Thus, 

 
1 To establish an unsponsored ADR, the depositary must submit a Form F-6 registration 
statement. Securities and Exchange Commission, Investor Bulletin: American Depositary 
Receipts (2012). The issuer of the securities represented by the unsponsored ADRs does not 
sign the Form F-6 during this process. See generally Securities and Exchange Commission, 
OMB No. 3235-0292, Form F-6 (2001). Further, the foreign company in this situation does not 
register nor file annual reports with the SEC. See Securities and Exchange Commission, 
Investor Bulletin: American Depositary Receipts. Instead, such information should just be 
available on the foreign company’s website. Id. See also Securities and Exchange Commission, 
OMB No. 3235-0292, Form F-6 (2001)(explaining that a depositary may in good faith rely on 
the issuer publishing such information on their website in English to satisfy the requirement).  
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while unsponsored ADRs represent shares of foreign companies, the 

transactions are “a two-party contract” between the depositary and investors. 

Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 950; See also In re Volkswagen “Clean Diesel” Mktg., Sales 

Practices, & Prods. Liab. Litig., MDL No. 2672 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1109, 810 

(N.D. Cal.  Jan. 4, 2017)(explaining domestic transactions at issue involving 

sponsored ADRs were not independent from foreign companies because 

sponsored ADRs require direct involvement of foreign companies unlike 

unsponsored ADRs). Consequently, courts should recognize this distinction 

between unsponsored and sponsored ADRs because foreign companies are not 

a party to the transactions involving unsponsored ADRs. See generally 

Securities and Exchange Commission, Additional Form F-6 Eligibility 

Requirement Related to the Listed Status of Deposited Securities Underlying 

American Depositary Receipts. Therefore, foreign companies should not be 

liable under §10(b) for transactions involving unsponsored ADRs. 

Here, Alcollezione should not be liable under §10(b) because they were 

not a party to the domestic transactions involving the unsponsored ADRs. 

Hansen Bank and Trust, a New York depositary, established unsponsored 

ADRs on their own volition, filing a Form F-6 and handling the transactions 

itself. R. at 4. Alcollezione did not aid the depositary in establishing the ADRs 

nor did they provide the depositary with any financial information; the 

depositary merely informed Alcollezione that they were establishing the ADRs. 

R. at 4. Furthermore, the record is silent as to whether investors received 

dividends or exercised voting rights for the ADRs they owned. Additionally, no 

contracts formed, no purchase orders occurred, and there was no passing of 
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title nor the exchange of money between the Hedge Fund Managers and 

Alcollezione. Thus, Absolute Activist’s conditions for a domestic transaction 

were not satisfied as no irrevocable liability formed between Alcollezione and 

the Petitioners and there was no title transfer between Alcollezione and the 

Petitioners. There was only a two-party contract between the depositary and 

Petitioners. 

In conclusion, it would be improper, even if domesticity is a sufficient 

condition, for foreign companies, like Alcollezione, to be liable under §10(b) for 

domestic transactions involving unsponsored ADRs because the foreign 

companies are not parties to the domestic transactions.  

II. THE HEDGE FUND PLAINTIFFS CANNOT RECOVER UNDER RULE 10(B)-
5(A) OR (C) BECAUSE MS. CATO IS NOT A PRIMARY VIOLATOR. 
 
 Petitioners, the Hedge Fund Managers, cannot recover from Ms. Cato as 

a primary violator under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) because such claims are merely 

repackaged secondary liability claims properly pursued under Rule 10b-5(b) 

and Ms. Cato is not a primary violator under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c).  

A. The Hedge Fund Managers failed to plead actionable claims under Rule 
10b-5. 

 
The Fund Managers cannot recover under Rule 10b-5 because their 

scheme liability claims amount to disallowed aiding and abetting claims, Ms. 

Cato’s conduct was not inherently deceptive, and the allegations do not come 

close to mirroring the level of culpability in Lorenzo v. SEC. 139 S. Ct. 1095, 

1098 (2019). First, unlike the SEC or Department of Justice, private plaintiffs 

cannot “maintain an aiding and abetting suit under §10(b)” because conduct 

covered by aiding and abetting exceeds the scope of §10(b). Central Bank of 
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Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 191 

(1994).2 Because private plaintiffs do not have statutory authority from 

Congress to pursue aiders and abettors under Rule 10b-5, courts do not allow 

plaintiffs to simply repackage aiding and abetting claims through alleging 

primary violations under the “scheme liability” provisions of Rule 10b-5(a) or 

(c). See Lentell v. Merrill Lynch, 396 F.3d 161, 177 (2d Cir. 2005); SEC v. Kelly, 

817 F. Supp. 2d 340, 343 (S.D.N.Y. 2011); In re Parmalat Sec. Litig., 376 F. 

Supp. 2d 472, 505 (S.D.N.Y. 2005). Second, Courts require a showing of 

inherently deceptive conduct to establish scheme liability under Rule 10b-5(a) 

and (c), which is absent in this case. See SEC v. Pentagon Capital Management 

PLC, 725 F.3d 279, 285 (2d Cir. 2013).  

Third, it was not until the post-Central Bank era that courts began to 

consider the applicability of Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) beyond the discrete types of 

market manipulation claims they traditionally regulated. See Parmalat, 376 F. 

Supp. 2d at 497-98. Further, numerous scheme liability cases arise in specific 

contexts concerning agent-client relationships rather than issuer-investor 

relationships; the former of which constitute unique areas of federal securities 

law not necessarily applicable to this case. See Pentagon Capital, 725 F.3d at 

285. As such, Ms. Cato’s conduct is distinguishable from the conduct at issue 

in Lorenzo because she is less culpable and not subject to an agent-client 

relationship. 139 S. Ct. at 1099.  

 

 
2 Congress expressly authorizes the SEC and the Department of Justice to pursue secondary 
violations of the securities laws. 15 U.S.C. §78t(e); §78ff. Private plaintiffs enjoy no such 
express right of action in this case.  
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1. Private plaintiffs cannot recover from secondary actors by 

repackaging aiding and abetting claims into scheme liability 

claims.  

 

This Court’s precedent holds that private plaintiffs cannot pursue aiders 

and abettors under Rule 10b-5. Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191. The reason 

private plaintiffs cannot bring claims for aiding and abetting liability is that 

such claims are outside the statutory scope of §10(b). Id. at 180. This Court 

also found it problematic that an aiding and abetting claim allows plaintiffs to 

sidestep proving the elements of a Rule 10b-5 claim against such aiders and 

abettors. Id. at 180. Plaintiffs cannot use Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) as a back door 

into bringing aiding and abetting claims against those who assist the making of 

false statements in violation of subsection (b). Kelly, 817 F. Supp. 2d at 343. 

“[W]here the primary purpose and effect of a purported scheme is to make a 

public misrepresentation or omission, courts have routinely rejected the 

[attempts] to bypass the elements necessary to impose misstatement liability 

under subsection (b) by labeling the alleged misconduct a scheme rather than 

a misstatement.” Id.; Lentell, 396 F.3d at 177.   

Here, the Hedge Fund Managers’ attempt to recover from Ms. Cato as a 

primary violator under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) amounts to a disguised claim for 

aiding and abetting in an effort to evade Central Bank and get a third bite at 

the apple after already recovering from both the company and the CEO. R. at 7-

8. Ms. Cato’s conduct merely aided the CEO’s allegedly false statements. This 

Court held §10(b) does not authorize aiding and abetting claims because such 
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claims depend on the existence of an underlying violation of the Rule 10b-5.3  

Further, this problem is apparent when one considers the obvious fact 

that if Ms. Cato inserted true statements, as opposed to false ones, into the 

shareholder materials there would be no Rule 10b-5 claim. With Ms. Cato 

having inserted false statements, through engaging in the very same conduct of 

preparing shareholder materials, it becomes clear the existence of the scheme 

liability claims depends upon the falsity of the untrue statements in the Rule 

10b-5(b) claim. When a scheme liability claim cannot stand on its own 

irrespective of other claims in the complaint, then it is a repackaged aiding and 

abetting claim because both fundamentally depend upon the viability of an 

underlying violation of §10(b). Here, the Fund Managers’ scheme claims are 

repackaged aiding and abetting claims because they depend upon the viability 

of the underlying misstatement claim against the CEO. This Court must not 

allow private plaintiffs to repackage aiding and abetting claims under a primary 

violator theory of scheme liability because doing so would circumvent this 

Court’s holding in Central Bank.   

2. Scheme liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) requires a showing the 
defendant committed inherently deceptive conduct.  

 
The Fund Managers fail to allege that Ms. Cato engaged in conduct that, 

standing alone, would operate as a fraud by its very nature under Rule 10b-

5(a) or (c). “To state a claim based on conduct that violates Rule 10b–5(a) and 

(c), the plaintiff must allege that a defendant (1) committed a deceptive or 

 
3 Aiding and abetting under §10(b) requires “(1) a primary violation of §10(b) (2) recklessness by 
the aider and abettor as to the existence of the primary violation; and (3) substantial assistance 
given to the primary violator by the aider and abettor.” Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 168. 
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manipulative act, (2) with scienter, that (3) the act affected the market for 

securities or was otherwise in connection with their purchase or sale, and that 

(4) defendants' actions caused the plaintiffs' injuries.” Parmalat, 376 F. Supp. 

2d at 491-92. “It is important to bear in mind that the vast majority of Rule 

10b–5 cases [have] targeted false or misleading statements—in other words, 

conduct prohibited by subsection (b) of the Rule.” Id. at 497. “In the pre-

Central Bank era, subsections (a) and (c), if they were referred to at all, usually 

were used to target certain forms of manipulative trading activity.” Id. “[O]ne 

reason for this is that the essence of fraud or deceit, at least at common law, is 

a misrepresentation that induces detrimental reliance.” Id. Courts mostly 

found it unnecessary to consider the extent to which the phrase “manipulative 

or deceptive device or contrivance” in Section 10(b) applied to conduct other 

than misrepresentations and omissions. Id. Thus, in the pre-Central Bank era 

any analysis of the conduct covered by Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) was both 

unnecessary. Id. However, post Central Bank, courts must squarely give 

meaning to subsections (a) and (c) because they were previously invoked only 

on rare occasions but are now used in an attempt to reach secondary actors 

who do not make statements under subsection (b). Id. at 498.  

Although there are subtle differences between subsection (a) and (c), the 

umbrella of scheme liability covers the performance an inherently deceptive 

act. Kelly, 817 F. Supp. 2d at 344. While a scheme liability claim can involve 

cases that include misstatements, there must be additional conduct apart from 

the misstatements capable of standing on its own excluding any 

misstatements. See e.g. Desai v. Deutsche Bank Securities Ltd., 573 F.3d 931, 
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934 (9th Cir. 2009)(discussing securities loan market manipulation scheme as 

fraudulent conduct); Webster v. Omnitrition Intern., Inc., 79 F.3d 776, 781 

(9th Cir. 1996)(holding pyramid schemes constitute inherently fraudulent 

conduct); In re Smith Barney Transfer Agent Litig., 884 F. Supp. 2d 152, 161 

(S.D.N.Y. 2012)(holding creation of entities designed to fraudulently channel 

cost savings away from mutual fund and conceal such conduct violated Rule 

10b-5(c)); Pentagon Capital, 725 F.3d at 285-86 (holding “late trading” is 

inherently deceptive practice violative of Rule 10b-5); SEC v. Lee, 720 F. Supp. 

2d 305, 334 (S.D.N.Y. 2010)(holding practice of “u-turning” commodity prices 

between brokerage houses is inherently deceptive); SEC v. Collins & Aikman 

Corp., 524 F. Supp. 2d 477, 480–81 (S.D.N.Y.2007)(allegation of “round-trip 

transactions” involving fabricated documentation and defendant’s active 

supervision amounted to inherently deceptive conduct).  

Here, Ms. Cato was the general counsel in a properly formed Italian 

corporation engaging in the perfectly legitimate business of selling various 

alcoholic beverages. R. at 2. The company engaged in its annual shareholder 

meeting as is customary of large business entities. R. at 6. There was, and is, 

nothing inherently fraudulent about the course of business or acts Ms. Cato 

engaged in. The Fund Managers do not claim the company routinely deceived 

Italian liquor regulators, operated as a pyramid scheme, or otherwise 

conducted its business unlawfully. There are no allegations that Ms. Cato did 

more than insert false or misleading statements into the shareholder materials. 

Absent allegations that Ms. Cato took steps to taint the validity of the 

shareholder meeting, manipulate the Italian securities market, or engage in a 
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criminal or otherwise fraudulent enterprise, the primary violation claims under 

(a) and (c) merit no relief.  

Contrary to what the Hedge Fund Managers assert, Ms. Cato, at most, 

aided and abetted the CEO who made misleading statements. Ms. Cato did 

everything in her power to comply with Italian liquor regulations and believed 

compliance with the regulations in the long term was possible, thus her actions 

of preparing the materials were not inherently deceptive. R. at 5. Even if Ms. 

Cato’s actions of preparing the materials were deceptive at all, such acts only 

became deceptive from the shadow of the CEO’s misstatements. However, 

removing the shadow of the CEO’s misstatements, it cannot be said that Ms. 

Cato’s actions cast a similar deceptive shadow of their own. Ultimately, the 

Fund Managers’ arguments that Ms. Cato’s actions became deceptive in light of 

the CEO’s misstatements fall short of establishing Ms. Cato’s actions were 

themselves inherently deceptive. Therefore, the asserted subsection (a) and (c) 

claims fail against Ms. Cato because the Fund Managers fail to explain how 

Ms. Cato’s conduct was inherently deceptive when considered separate and 

apart from the conduct of the CEO.  

3. Ms. Cato is not a primary violator under the facts of this case 
because she was neither a willing participant in the fraud nor a 
disseminator.  

 
Ms. Cato did not directly interact with shareholders and was not a core 

participant in the fraud where she opposed the making of the misstatements 

and complied only after the CEO made veiled threats to her job constituting 

duress. Under Rule 10b-5(b) “the maker of a statement is the person or entity 

with ultimate authority over the statement, including its content and whether 
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and how to communicate it.” Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First Derivative 

Traders, 564 U.S. 135, 145 (2011). Those who participate and assist in the 

making of false statements are not liable in private securities actions under 

Rule 10b-5(b). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct at 1098-99. Although not a primary violator 

under subsection (b), fraudulent activity may still violate Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) 

where the broad language of the rule covers conduct such as dissemination of 

untrue statements. Id at 1101. Dissemination or participation alone is not 

enough to establish liability in borderline cases where an individual only 

delivers untrue statements to investors. Id. Instead an actor must cross the 

line from mere assistance to the employment of a scheme or artifice to defraud. 

Id. The Court stated that applying Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) “may present difficult 

problems of scope in borderline cases… [p]urpose, precedent, and 

circumstance could lead to narrowing their reach in other contexts”. Id.4 This 

Court stated in Lorenzo that “one can readily imagine other actors tangentially 

involved in dissemination—say, a mailroom clerk—for whom liability would 

typically be inappropriate” but remarked that those who (1) send false 

statements directly to investors, (2) invite them to follow up with questions, 

and do so in one’s capacity as a control person are can be liable under 

subsections (a) and (c). Id.  

Although this Court focused on the question of dissemination in Lorenzo, 

dissemination is not the question at the heart of the issue. Rather, this Court 

 
4 Scheme liability disproportionately arises in the unique contexts concerning fiduciaries such 
as mutual funds, investment advisers, and broker relationships. See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 
1099 (broker-dealer context); Pentagon Capital, 725 F.3d at 285 (mutual fund context); See 
also SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 823 (2002)(discussing brokers as fiduciaries).  
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should clarify that in applying Lorenzo to a misstatement claim under 

subsection (b) the relevant inquiry involves an examination of the facts to 

determine whether the defendant accused of a scheme liability claim directly 

interacted with investors or was a primary participant in the fraud. The Janus 

rule may work an injustice if a person speaks through intermediaries, 

accomplices, or other affiliates to evade liability and should not apply as a 

shield. However, unless the court can satisfy itself that the defendant non-

speaker was the mastermind, ringleader, or a core participant in the fraud, 

primary scheme liability is inappropriate and such claims sound in aiding and 

abetting. Primary scheme liability should not ensnare unwilling participants 

pressured to assist a fraud against their judgment. A close reading of Janus 

and Lorenzo supports this inquirty. 

In Lorenzo the SEC brought an enforcement action against the Vice 

President of an investment bank for disseminating untrue statements to 

investors. Id. at 1099. Much like this case, the SEC alleged the defendant 

engaged in primary violations under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) even though he did 

not make any statements for purpose of subsection (b). Id. at 1100. The 

defendant disseminated emails containing untrue statements and offered 

investors an opportunity to email him back with any questions. Id. at 1099. 

The defendant acted in his capacity as upper management of an investment 

bank interacting directly with clients. Id.  

This case is distinguishable from Lorenzo for several reasons. First, Ms. 

Cato did not disseminate or place any untrue statements directly into the 

hands of investors. Ms. Cato, rather, prepared shareholder documents for the 
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annual meeting which were passed along to the CEO who them used them to 

make misrepresentations to investors. R. at 6. The record makes no mention of 

Ms. Cato answering shareholder questions let alone that she even attended the 

shareholder meeting. R. at 6. Although Ms. Cato is a member of upper 

management in her capacity as general counsel, her relationship to the Fund 

Managers is not a broker-client relationship. Rather, it is an issuer-investor 

relationship which is fundamentally distinct from the defendant’s relationship 

with investors in Lorenzo. Ms. Cato believed, at the time of the statements, 

holding Alcollezione securities was not a bad investment where compliance 

with Italian regulations was possible in the long run. R. at 5. This is precisely 

the sort of borderline case this Court envisioned when it decided Lorenzo. As 

such, Ms. Cato is not primarily liable under Rule 10b-5 because, unlike in 

Lorenzo, Ms. Cato never engaged in the affirmative conduct this Court said is 

necessary to establish liability as a disseminator. This Court should affirm the 

ruling of the Court of Appeals and hold Ms. Cato is not a primary violator.  

B. The Hedge Fund Managers’ Claims Fail as a Matter of Law Because the 

Fund Managers Did Not Plead Reliance.  

 

The Hedge Fund Managers could not have relied on any of Ms. Cato’s 

conduct because such acts were unknown to the Fund Managers and the 

public. “Reliance by the plaintiff upon the defendant's deceptive acts is an 

essential element of the §10(b) private cause of action [because it] ensures that, 

for liability to arise, the requisite causal connection between a defendant's 

misrepresentation and a plaintiff's injury exists as a predicate for liability.” 

Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, 552 U.S. 148, 166-67 
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(2008). Absent a duty to disclose or knowledge of the deceptive act reaching the 

public, plaintiffs must prove actual reliance. Id. Resting claims on an indirect 

chain of reliance is too remote to establish liability. Id. Instead, a plaintiff must 

show direct reliance upon the deceptive acts at issue when pleading a scheme 

liability claim. Id.  

Reliance requires “an allegation that but for the claimed [actions], the 

plaintiff would not have entered into the detrimental securities transaction.” 

Lentell, 396 F.3d at 172.5 The importance of the reliance element is one reason 

why Central Bank abrogated aiding and abetting claims where defendants 

could be liable without any showing of reliance. Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 180. 

“Allowing plaintiffs to circumvent the reliance requirement would disregard the 

careful limits on 10b–5 recovery mandated by our earlier cases.” Id.  

In Stoneridge defendants were not liable as primary violators under a 

scheme liability theory where the plaintiffs could not show they relied upon the 

conduct at issue. Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 166-67. The defendants served as 

suppliers for a digital cable company providing cable boxes. Id. at 154. The 

cable company concealed a shortfall in cash flow by convincing the defendants 

to accept overpayment for supplies and use the overpaid funds to purchase 

advertising from the cable company. Id. at 153-54. The defendants knew the 

cable company would use this transaction to violate generally accepted 

accounting principles and conceal its shortfall in cash flow but, nevertheless, 

agreed. Id. Despite partaking in the transaction, this Court held that the 

 
5 Congress codified the element of reliance. See Lentell, 396 F.3d at 172; 15 U.S.C. § 78u–
4(b)(4). 
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plaintiffs in Stoneridge failed to show reliance on the conduct of the defendants 

because such conduct was not known to the public. Id. at 166-67.  

Here, the record fails to establish any inference the Fund Managers knew 

who Ms. Cato was prior to this lawsuit. In fact, Form F-6 does not require an 

ADR issuer to disclose the underlying company’s general counsel. See 

Securities and Exchange Commission, OMB No. 3235-0292, Form F-6 (2001). 

Not only does the record show the Fund Managers were unaware of Ms. Cato’s 

existence, the record fails to articulate any facts showing how the Fund 

Managers relied on or were otherwise aware of Ms. Cato’s conduct ahead of, or 

immediately after, the annual meeting.  

Requiring plaintiffs to show reliance is perhaps the most important 

element for preventing Rule 10b-5 becoming an insurance policy for bad 

investments. If plaintiffs could sidestep the reliance requirement, they could 

use Rule 10b-5 to recover for practically any investment loss and remain 

willfully blind to market information. Absent a showing of detrimental reliance 

on a deceptive act committed by Ms. Cato, this Court must dismiss the 

complaint. For all the reasons stated, Respondent respectfully requests this 

Court issue an order affirming the decision of the Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit and dismiss Ms. Cato from this case. 
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CONCLUSION 

Congress did not intend for federal securities laws to serve as insurance 

policies against bad investments. Therefore, for the reasons stated herein, 

Respondent respectfully requests this Court to affirm the decision of the United 

States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit. 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  
 
    __________________/s/ 
 

Team R13 
Counsel of Record for Respondent 
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APPENDX 1 

15 U.S.C. §78j(b)  

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of 
any facility of any national securities exchange -- (b) To use or employ, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national 
securities exchange or any security not so registered . . . any manipulative or 
deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations 
as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public 
interest or for the protection of investors. 

 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 
 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange -- (a) To employ any device, scheme, 
or artifice to defraud -- (b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or 
to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements 
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading -- (c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which 
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, 
in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 

 


